Registration of a Charge

Company name: GVA GRIMLEY LIMITED

Company number: 06382509

Received for Electronic Filing: 08/02/2019



Details of Charge

Date of creation: 31/01/2019

Charge code: 0638 2509 0006

Persons entitled: CREDIT SUISSE AG, CAYMAN ISLANDS BRANCH

Brief description: SEE SECTION 3.6 OF THE CHARGE WHICH CHARGES BY WAY OF

FIXED CHARGE ALL INTELLECTUAL PROPERTY RIGHTS, (AS DEFINED THEREIN), INCLUDING: COUNTRY TRADEMARK STATUS APPLICATION NO. REGISTRATION NO. PROPRIETOR UNITED KINGDOM A ASPIRE LOGO REGISTERED UK00002343255 UK00002343255 GVA GRIMLEY LIMITED EUROPEAN UNION CURVED LOGO REGISTERED 001248244

001248244 GVA GRIMLEY LIMITED UNITED KINGDOM GRIMLEY
REGISTERED UK00002005244 UK00002005244 GVA GRIMLEY LIMITED
EUROPEAN UNION GRIMLEY LOGO REGISTERED 000322883 000322883
GVA GRIMLEY LIMITED PLEASE REFER TO THE DEBENTURE FOR MORE

DETAILS OF THE CHARGE.

Contains fixed charge(s).

Contains floating charge(s) (floating charge covers all the property or

undertaking of the company).

Contains negative pledge.

Authentication of Form

Authentication of Instrument

Certification statement: I CERTIFY THAT SAVE FOR MATERIAL REDACTED PURSUANT

TO S.859G OF THE COMPANIES ACT 2006 THE ELECTRONIC COPY INSTRUMENT DELIVERED AS PART OF THIS APPLICATION FOR REGISTRATION IS A CORRECT COPY OF THE ORIGINAL

INSTRUMENT.

Certified by: NORTON ROSE FULBRIGHT LLP



CERTIFICATE OF THE REGISTRATION OF A CHARGE

Company number: 6382509

Charge code: 0638 2509 0006

The Registrar of Companies for England and Wales hereby certifies that a charge dated 31st January 2019 and created by GVA GRIMLEY LIMITED was delivered pursuant to Chapter A1 Part 25 of the Companies Act 2006 on 8th February 2019.

Given at Companies House, Cardiff on 11th February 2019

The above information was communicated by electronic means and authenticated by the Registrar of Companies under section 1115 of the Companies Act 2006





EXECUTION VERSION

Avison Young (UK) Limited (and others as Chargors)	redacted pursuant to s.859G of the Companies Act 2006, this copy instrument is a correct copy of the original instrument. Noton Love Fullangua L. Sign & Dated
Credit Suisse AG, Cayman Islands Branch (as Collateral Agent)	1

Debenture

31 January 2019

Dated

NORTON ROSE FULBRIGHT

Contents

Cla	ause	Page
1	Definitions and Interpretation	1
2	Covenant to pay	5
3	Creation of Security	5
4	Nature of Security Created	8
5	Restrictions	8
6	Conversion of Floating Charge	8
7	Representations and Warranties	9
8	Undertakings	10
9	Shares and Investments	13
10	Partnership Interests	14
11	Enforcement	14
12	Appointment and powers of Receivers	15
13	Protection of purchasers	16
14	Protection of the Secured Parties and Receivers	16
15	Further Assurances	18
16	Power of Attorney	19
17	Preservation of Security	19
18	Notices	21
19	Miscellaneous Provisions	21
20	Release	22
21	Governing Law and Jurisdiction	22
Scl	hedule 1 The Chargors	24
Scl	hedule 2 Land charged by way of legal mortgage	25
Scl	hedule 3 Shares	26
Scl	hedule 4 Specified Intellectual Property	28
Sch	hedule 5 Deed of Accession	43

Debenture

Dated 31 January 2019

Between

- (1) **Avison Young (UK) Limited** a company incorporated under the laws of England and Wales with registered number 08963626 (the **Company**);
- (2) **The Companies** identified in Schedule 1 (*The Chargors*) (together with the Company and each person which becomes a party to this Deed by executing a Deed of Accession, each a Chargor and together the **Chargors**); and
- (3) **Credit Suisse AG, Cayman Islands Branch**, as collateral agent and security trustee for the Secured Parties (the **Collateral Agent**).

Recitals

- (A) The Lenders have agreed to make facilities available on the terms of the Facility Agreement.
- (B) The Chargors enter into this Deed to secure the repayment and satisfaction of the Secured Liabilities.
- (C) The Chargors and the Collateral Agent intend that this document take effect as a deed notwithstanding that it may be executed under hand.

It is agreed:

1 Definitions and Interpretation

1.1 Definitions

In this Deed:

Act means the Law of Property Act 1925.

Book Debts means:

- (a) all book and other debts in existence from time to time (including, without limitation, any sums whatsoever owed by banks or similar institutions) both present and future, actual or contingent, due, owing to or which may become due, owing to or purchased or otherwise acquired by any Chargor; and
- (b) the benefit of all rights whatsoever relating to the debts referred to in (a) above including, without limitation, any related agreements, documents, rights and remedies (including, without limitation, negotiable or non-negotiable instruments, guarantees, indemnities, legal and equitable charges, reservation of proprietary rights, rights of tracing, unpaid vendor's liens and all similar connected or related rights and assets).

Deed of Accession means a deed of accession substantially in the form set out in Schedule 5 (*Deed of Accession*).

Distribution Rights means all allotments, accretions, offers, options, rights, bonuses, benefits and advantages, whether by way of conversion, redemption, preference, option or otherwise which at any time accrue to or are offered or arise in respect of any Investments or Shares, and includes all dividends, interest and other distributions paid or payable on or in respect of them.

Equipment means each Chargor's fixed and moveable plant, machinery, tools, vehicles, computers and office and other equipment and the benefit of all related authorisations, agreements and warranties.

Excluded Assets has the meaning given to such term in the Term Loan GCA.

Facility Agreement means the term loan agreement dated on or about the date of this Deed between Avison Young (Canada) Inc. as Borrower, the Lenders party thereto and Credit Suisse AG, Cayman Islands Branch as Administrative Agent and Collateral Agent.

Insurance means each contract or policy of insurance to which a Chargor is a party or in which it has an interest.

Intellectual Property Rights means:

- any patents, petty patents, trademarks, service marks, trade names, domain names, business names, designs, rights in designs, software rights, moral rights, utility models, database rights, copyrights, rights in the nature of copyright, and all other forms of intellectual or industrial property;
- (b) any rights in or to inventions, formulae, confidential or secret processes and information, know-how and similar rights, goodwill and any other rights and assets of a similar nature; and
- (c) any other right to use (or which may arise from, relate to or be associated with), or application to register or protect, any of the items listed in paragraphs (a) or (b) above,

arising or subsisting in any jurisdiction and whether registered or not.

Intercreditor Agreement means the intercreditor agreement dated on or about the date of this Deed between the Collateral Agent and CIBC Bank USA as Revolving Collateral Agent.

Investments means all or any stocks, shares, bonds and securities of any kind (marketable or otherwise), negotiable instruments and warrants and any other financial instruments (as defined in the Regulations).

Land has the same meaning as it has in section 205(1) of the Act.

Partnership Assets means those assets of the Partners which are from time to time subject to the security under clause 3.11 (*Partnerships*).

Partnership Deed means each limited liability partnership member's agreement relating to any Partnership.

Partnership Interests means:

- (a) all of each Partner's present and future rights, title, interest and benefit under, in and to any Partnership Deed and all of its existing and future interest as a limited partner in a Partnership (including its existing and future beneficial interest in the capital and assets of the Partnership) whether arising under a Partnership Deed, law or equity; and
- (b) any right to purchase or otherwise acquire any additional interest in a Partnership, including without limitation any interest in the joint estate of a Partnership.

Partnership Related Rights means all present and future:

- (a) distributions of any kind and any other sum paid or payable to a Partner in respect of a Partnership Deed and its Partnership Interests, including distributions of profits, income or capital;
- (b) any interest or principal paid or payable to a Partner in respect of a Partnership Deed and its Partnership Interests including in respect of any loan made by the Partner to the Partnership;
- (c) rights, shares, warrants, benefits, money, property or other assets accruing or offered at any time in relation to its Partnership Interests by way of redemption, bonus, repayment of capital, dividend, preference, purchase, conversion, option, substitution, exchange or otherwise in respect of a Partnership Deed and its Partnership Interests; and
- (d) any other rights and assets attaching to, deriving from or exercisable by virtue of the ownership of, its Partnership Interests including all rights and remedies for enforcing its Partnership Interests.

Partners means those Chargors which are limited liability partners in any of the Partnerships.

Partnerships means How Planning LLP and Avison Young – UK, LLP and any other limited liability partnership in which any Chargor has an interest.

Receiver means a receiver appointed pursuant to this Deed or to any applicable law, whether alone or jointly, and includes a receiver and/or manager and, if the Collateral Agent is permitted by law to appoint an administrative receiver, includes an administrative receiver.

Regulations means the Financial Collateral Arrangements (No 2) Regulations 2003 (S.I. 2003/3226) or equivalent legislation in any applicable jurisdiction bringing into effect Directive 2002/47/EC on financial collateral arrangements, and Regulation means any of them.

Right means any right, privilege, power or immunity, or any interest or remedy, of any kind, whether it is personal or proprietary, including, for the avoidance of doubt, all powers of enforcement.

Secured Liabilities has the meaning given to the term Guarantor Obligations in the Term Loan GCA

Security Assets means all assets of each Chargor the subject of any Security created by this Deed.

Security Period means the period beginning on the date of this Deed and ending on the date on which the Secured Liabilities (other than (a) Obligations in respect of any Specified Hedge Agreement and (b) indemnification and other contingent obligations not then due and payable and the termination or expiration of all commitments to extend credit under the Facility Agreement) have been irrevocably and unconditionally satisfied in full and no Secured Party has any commitment or liability, whether present or future, actual or contingent, in relation to the facilities provided under the Facility Agreement in relation to any Chargor. If any amount paid by any Chargor and/or in connection with the satisfaction of the Secured Liabilities is capable of being avoided or otherwise set aside on the liquidation or administration of such Chargor or otherwise, then that amount shall not be considered to have been irrevocably paid for the purpose of this Deed.

Security has the meaning given to the term Liens in the Facility Agreement.

Shares means all shares held by any Chargor in its Subsidiaries.

Specified Intellectual Property means the registered Intellectual Property Rights specified in Schedule 4 (*Specified Intellectual Property*) and/or in the Schedule to any Deed of Accession.

Subsidiary means:

- (a) a subsidiary within the meaning of section 1159 of the Companies Act 2006; and
- (b) any company which would be a subsidiary within the meaning of section 1159 of the Companies Act 2006 but for any Security subsisting over the shares in that company from time to time.

but on the basis that a person shall be treated as a member of a company if any shares in that company are held by that person's nominee or any other person acting on that person's behalf.

Term Loan GCA means the term loan guarantee and collateral agreement dated on or about the date of this deed and made by Avison Young (Canada) Inc. as Borrower and certain of its subsidiaries in favour of the Collateral Agent.

1.2 Construction

- (a) Any reference in this Deed to:
 - (i) **assets** includes present and future properties, revenues and rights of every description;
 - (ii) an **authorisation** means an authorisation, consent, approval, licence, resolution, filing or registration;
 - (iii) any Loan Document or any other agreement or instrument (or any of their specific provisions) is a reference to that Loan Document or other agreement or instrument (or specific provision) as amended, novated supplemented, extended or restated or otherwise modified from time to time;
 - (iv) indebtedness includes any obligation (whether incurred as principal or as surety) for the payment or repayment of money, whether present or future, actual or contingent;
 - (v) a **person** includes one or more of that person's assigns, transferees or successors in title, delegates, sub-delegates and appointees (in the case of a Chargor only, in so far as such assigns, transferees or successors in title, delegates, sub-delegates and appointees are permitted in accordance with the Loan Documents) and any person, firm, company, corporation, government, state or agency of a state or any association, trust or partnership (whether or not having separate legal personality);
 - (vi) a regulation includes any regulation, rule, official directive, request or guideline (whether or not having the force of law) of any governmental, intergovernmental or supranational body, agency, department or regulatory, self-regulatory or other authority or organisation;
 - (vii) a guarantee includes any guarantee, letter of credit, bond, indemnity or similar assurance against loss, or any obligation, direct or indirect, actual or contingent, to purchase or assume any indebtedness of any person or to make an investment in or loan to any person or to purchase assets of any person where, in each case, such obligation is assumed in order to maintain or assist the ability of such person to meet its indebtedness;
 - (viii) a provision of law is a reference to that provision as amended or re-enacted; and
 - (ix) words importing the singular shall include the plural and vice versa.
- (b) Clause and Schedule headings are for ease of reference only.

- (c) Capitalised terms defined in the Facility Agreement have the same meaning when used in this Deed unless the context requires otherwise.
- (d) The terms of the other Loan Documents and of any side letters between any parties in relation to any Loan Document are incorporated in this Deed to the extent required to ensure that any purported disposition of an interest in Land contained in this Deed is a valid disposition in accordance with section 2(1) of the Law of Property (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1989.
- (e) Each of the charges in Clause 3 (Creation of Security) over each category of the assets, each asset and each sub-category of each asset specified in such clause shall be read and construed separately, as though each such category, asset and sub-category were charged independently and separately of each other and shall apply to both present and future assets.

1.3 Third party rights

- (a) Unless expressly provided to the contrary in this Deed or the other Loan Documents, a person who is not a party has no right under the Third Parties Act to enforce or to enjoy the benefit of any term of this Deed.
- (b) Notwithstanding any term of this Deed, the consent of any person who is not a party is not required to rescind or vary this Deed at any time.
- (c) Any Secured Party that is not a party may enforce and enjoy the benefit of any Clause which expressly confers rights on it, subject to paragraph (b) above and the provisions of the Third Parties Act.

2 Covenant to pay

Each Chargor covenants with the Collateral Agent as trustee for the Secured Parties that it will on demand pay and discharge the Secured Liabilities when due.

3 Creation of Security

3.1 Land

Each Chargor charges:

- (a) by way of legal mortgage its interest in the Land referred to in Schedule 2 (Land charged by way of legal mortgage); and
- (b) by way of fixed charge any right, title or interest which it has now or may subsequently acquire to or in any other Land.

3.2 Shares

Each Chargor mortgages or (if or to the extent that this Deed does not take effect as a mortgage) charges by way of fixed charge:

- (a) all Shares; and
- (b) all related Distribution Rights.

3.3 Investments

Each Chargor mortgages or (if and to the extent that this Deed does not take effect as a mortgage) charges by way of fixed charge:

- (a) all Investments; and
- (b) all related Distribution Rights,

including those held for it by any nominee.

3.4 Equipment

Each Chargor mortgages or (if to the extent that this Deed does not take effect as a mortgage) charges by way of fixed charge all of its right, title and interest in and to:

- (a) all Equipment; and
- (b) all spare parts and replacements for and all modifications and additions to the Equipment,

in each case, so far as it is not charged by way of legal mortgage under Clause 3.1 (Land).

3.5 Book Debts

Each Chargor charges by way of fixed charge:

- (a) its Book Debts, both uncollected and collected, the proceeds of the same and all monies otherwise due and owing to such Chargor but excluding any bank accounts of the Chargor and any amounts standing to the credit of such bank accounts; and
- (b) the benefit of all rights, Security and guarantees of whatsoever nature enjoyed or held by it in relation to anything referred to in paragraph (a) above.

3.6 Intellectual Property Rights

Each Chargor charges by way of fixed charge all Intellectual Property Rights, including all fees, royalties and other rights of every kind relating to or deriving from such Intellectual Property Rights.

3.7 Goodwill

Each Chargor charges by way of fixed charge its goodwill.

3.8 Uncalled capital

Each Chargor charges by way of fixed charge its uncalled capital.

3.9 Authorisations

Each Chargor charges by way of fixed charge the benefit of all authorisations held by it in relation to any Security Asset.

3.10 Insurance

Each Chargor charges by way of fixed charge all of its benefits, claims and returns of premiums in respect of the Insurance.

3.11 Partnerships

Each Partner, assigns absolutely all of the Rights which it now has and all of the Rights which it obtains at any time in the future in the:

- (a) Partnership Interests; and
- (b) Partnership Related Rights,

and in any Rights accruing to, derived from or otherwise connected with them (including proceeds, insurances, guarantees and security).

3.12 Other assets

- (a) Each Chargor charges by way of floating charge all its present and future business, undertaking and assets which are not effectively mortgaged, charged by way of fixed charge or assigned under this Clause 3 (*Creation of Security*).
- (b) Paragraph 14 of Schedule B1 to the Insolvency Act 1986 shall apply to any floating charge created by this Deed.

3.13 Trust

- (a) Subject to paragraph (b), if or to the extent that for any reason the assignment, mortgaging or charging of any Security Asset is prohibited, each Chargor holds it on trust for the Collateral Agent.
- (b) If the reason referred to in paragraph (a) is that:
 - (i) a consent or waiver must be obtained; or
 - (ii) a condition must be satisfied,

then:

- (A) subject to paragraph (c), the relevant Chargor shall apply for the consent or waiver; and
- (B) the relevant Chargor shall use all reasonable endeavours to satisfy the condition.

as soon as reasonably practicable after the date of this Deed or, if the Security Asset is acquired after the date of this Deed, as soon as reasonably practicable after the date of acquisition.

- (c) Where the consent or waiver is not to be unreasonably withheld, the relevant Chargor shall:
 - (i) use all reasonable endeavours to obtain it as soon as reasonably practicable; and
 - (ii) keep the Collateral Agent informed of the progress of the negotiations to obtain it.
- (d) On the waiver or consent being obtained, or the condition being satisfied, the Security Asset shall be mortgaged, charged or assigned (as appropriate) under this Clause 3 (*Creation of Security*) and the trust referred to in paragraph (a) shall terminate.

3.14 Excluded Assets

(a) Subject to paragraph (b) below but otherwise notwithstanding anything to the contrary in this Deed, Excluded Assets shall be excluded from the Security created by this Deed

pursuant to this clause 3 (*Creation of Security*) other than the floating charge created by clause 3.12 (*Other assets*) and from the operation of any further assurance provisions contained in this Deed.

(b) Notwithstanding anything herein to the contrary, to the extent and for so long as any asset is an Excluded Asset, the Security granted under this Deed (other than the floating charge created by clause 3.12 (Other assets)) shall not attach to such asset; provided, however that all of the relevant Security shall immediately attach to any such asset (or portion thereof) upon such asset (or such portion) ceasing to be an Excluded Asset.

4 Nature of Security Created

The Security created under this Deed is created:

- (a) as a continuing security and will extend for the ultimate balance of sums payable in connection with the Secured Liabilities regardless of any intermediate payment or discharge in whole or part;
- (b) (except in the case of assets which are the subject of a legal mortgage under this Deed) over all present and future assets of the kind described which are owned by any Chargor and, to the extent that it does not own those assets, shall extend to any right or interest which it may have in them;
- (c) in favour of the Collateral Agent as agent and trustee for the Secured Parties; and
- (d) with full title guarantee.

5 Restrictions

No Chargor shall:

- (a) create or permit to subsist any Security of whatsoever nature on any Security Asset other than Permitted Liens or as created by this Deed; or
- (b) sell, transfer, grant, lease or otherwise dispose of any Security Asset, except with the consent of the Collateral Agent or as permitted under the Facility Agreement, the Term Loan GCA or the other Loan Documents.

6 Conversion of Floating Charge

6.1 Conversion on notice

Subject to Clause 6.2 (*Limitation*), the Collateral Agent may by notice to a Chargor at any time during the Security Period convert the floating charge created by that Chargor under this Deed into a fixed charge in respect of any Security Asset specified in that notice if:

- (a) an Event of Default is continuing; or
- (b) the Collateral Agent (acting reasonably) considers that Security Asset to be in danger of being seized, attached, charged, taken possession of or sold under any form of distress, sequestration, execution or other process or otherwise to be in jeopardy.

6.2 Limitation

Clause 6.1 (Conversion on notice) shall not apply by reason only of a moratorium being obtained, or anything being done with a view to a moratorium being obtained, under section 1A of the Insolvency Act 1986.

6.3 Automatic conversion

The floating charge created by a Chargor under this Deed will convert automatically into fixed charges:

- (a) if the Collateral Agent receives notice of an intention to appoint an administrator of that Chargor;
- (b) if any steps are taken, (including the presentation of a petition, the passing of a resolution or the making of an application) to appoint a liquidator, provisional liquidator, administrator or Receiver in respect of that Chargor over all or any part of its assets, or if such person is appointed;
- (c) if that Chargor creates or attempts to create any Security over all or any of the Security Assets (other than a Permitted Lien or with the prior written consent of the Collateral Agent);
- (d) on the crystallisation of any other floating charge over the Security Assets;
- (e) if any person seizes, attaches, charges, takes possession of or sells any Security Asset under any form of distress, sequestration, execution or other process, or attempts to do so; and
- (f) in any other circumstances prescribed by law.

7 Representations and Warranties

7.1 Making of representations

Each Chargor makes the representations and warranties set out in this Clause 7 to the Collateral Agent and the Secured Parties. The representations and warranties so set out are made on the date of this Deed and are deemed to be repeated by the Chargors throughout the Security Period on those dates on which representations and warranties are to be repeated in accordance with the Facility Agreement with reference to the facts and circumstances then existing.

7.2 Capacity

Each Chargor has the capacity, power and authority to enter into this Deed and the obligations assumed by it are its legal, valid, binding and enforceable obligations subject to laws affecting creditors' rights generally.

7.3 Title

The Chargors are the sole legal and beneficial owner of the Security Assets free of any Security or third party interest of any kind (other than pursuant to or as permitted by the Loan Documents).

7.4 Land

All Land beneficially owned by a Chargor as at the date of this Deed is described in Schedule 2 (Land charged by way of legal mortgage).

7.5 Shares

(a) All Shares beneficially owned by a Chargor as at the date of this Deed are described in Schedule 3 (Shares).

(b) All of the Shares and, to the extent applicable, all Investments are fully paid.

7.6 Specified Intellectual Property

- (a) The details of the Specified Intellectual Property appearing or referred to in Schedule 4 (Specified Intellectual Property):
 - (i) are true, accurate, and complete in all material respects; and
 - (ii) no Chargor is the owner of any interest in any other registered Intellectual Property Rights which are not identified in that Schedule and which is/are material to such Chargor's business.
- (b) No Chargor is aware of any circumstances which would be likely to entitle a third party to a licence, permission, consent or assignment of, or in respect of, any Specified Intellectual Property or other Intellectual Property Rights and which would have a Material Adverse Effect.
- (c) No Chargor is aware of any actions, claims or allegations against any third party alleging infringement of any Specified Intellectual Property, nor of any facts, matters or circumstances which could reasonably be expected to give rise to any such action, claim or allegation and which would have a Material Adverse Effect.
- (d) No Chargor is aware of any pending or anticipated actions, claims, counter-claims, applications or allegations impugning the validity or enforceability of any Specified Intellectual Property or its ownership of it and which would have a Material Adverse Effect.

7.7 Excluded Assets

The representations set out in this clause 7 do not apply and are not made in respect of any assets which are Excluded Assets.

8 Undertakings

8.1 Duration

The undertakings in this clause 8 shall remain in force throughout the Security Period and are given by each Chargor to the Collateral Agent and the Secured Parties.

8.2 Book debts and receipts

Each Chargor shall collect and realise its Book Debts and other monies and receipts and pay the proceeds of any Book Debts into such accounts as the Collateral Agent may from time to time specify.

8.3 Shares and Investments

Each Chargor covenants that:

(a) Subject to Schedule 5.12 (Post-Closing Deliverables) of the Facility Agreement, on the date of this Deed in respect of the Shares described in Schedule 3 (Shares), and as soon as practicable in respect of any Shares or Investments registered in, or transferred into the name of, a Chargor, or held by or in the name of the Collateral Agent (and in any event as soon as the Collateral Agent so requests), it shall deposit with the Collateral Agent, in respect of or in connection with those Shares or Investments:

- (i) all stock and share certificates and documents of or evidencing title (except where such Shares or Investments are uncertificated);
- (ii) in respect of Shares and Investments held in Subsidiaries incorporated in England and Wales and/or the Republic of Ireland only, signed undated transfers, completed in blank and, if the Collateral Agent so requires, pre-stamped; and
- (iii) any other documents which the Collateral Agent may from time to time require for perfecting its title, or the title of any purchaser,

all of which will be held by the Collateral Agent at the expense and risk of the Chargor;

- (b) at all times during the Security Period:
 - if it forms or acquires any Subsidiary after the date of this Deed, it shall promptly notify the Collateral Agent;
 - (ii) it will promptly copy to the Collateral Agent, and comply with, all requests for information which is within its knowledge and which are made under section 793 of the Companies Act 2006 or any similar provision contained in any articles of association or other constitutional document relating to any of its Shares and Investments;
 - (iii) it will comply with all other conditions and obligations assumed by it in respect of any of the Shares and Investments where failure to so comply would in the reasonable opinion of the relevant Chargor adversely affect the interests of the Secured Parties; and
 - (iv) promptly following receipt, each Chargor shall forward to the Collateral Agent copies of all notices, documents and other communications received in connection with the Shares and Investments.

Nothing in this clause 8.3 shall apply to any Shares or Investments that constitute Excluded Assets.

8.4 Land

- (a) Each Chargor shall promptly notify the Collateral Agent in writing if it:
 - (i) has entered into an agreement or other binding commitment to acquire any estate or interest in any Mortgaged Property; or
 - (ii) acquires any estate or interest in any Mortgaged Property.
- (b) Each Chargor shall promptly give notice in writing to the Collateral Agent if:
 - (i) it receives any notice under section 146 of the Act; or
 - (ii) any proceedings are commenced against it for the forfeiture of any lease of any Land.
- (c) If any Chargor acquires any Mortgaged Property after the date of this Deed it shall:
 - within 90 days of the acquisition of such Mortgaged Property and at the cost of the Chargor, execute and deliver to the Collateral Agent a legal mortgage in favour of the Collateral Agent of that property in the same form as this Deed (*mutatis mutandis*);

- (ii) if required by the Collateral Agent and if the title to that freehold or leasehold property is registered at the Land Registry or required to be so registered, give the Land Registry written notice of this Deed; and
- (iii) if applicable, ensure that the provisions of Clause 15.1 (*Application to Land Registrar*) are complied with in relation to that legal mortgage.
- (d) If the consent of the landlord in whom the reversion of a lease is vested is required for a Chargor to execute a legal mortgage over it, that Chargor shall:
 - (i) not be required to perform that obligation unless and until it has obtained the landlord's consent; and
 - (ii) use its reasonable endeavours to obtain the landlord's consent.
- (e) Each Chargor shall:
 - (i) perform all its obligations under any law or regulation in any way related to or affecting its Land, except to the extent that non-performance of those obligations would not materially adversely affect the value or marketability of any of its Land; and
 - (ii) within 14 days after receipt by it of any material application, requirement, order or notice served or given by any public or local or any other authority with respect to its Land (or any part of it):
 - (A) deliver a copy to the Collateral Agent; and
 - (B) inform the Collateral Agent of the steps taken or proposed to be taken to comply with the relevant requirements.

8.5 Intellectual Property

- (a) Without prejudice to clause 15 (Further Assurances), each Chargor shall at its own expense promptly execute any document and do all assurances acts and things as the Collateral Agent (acting reasonably) may require to procure that the Security created by this Deed is recorded as soon as possible by the Collateral Agent in each register in each jurisdiction in which any Specified Intellectual Property is registered.
- (b) Without prejudice to clause 15 (Further Assurances) if after the date of this Deed, any Chargor (i) proposes to apply to register any Specified Intellectual Property in any register in which it is not already identified as being registered in or (ii) proposes to apply to register any Intellectual Property Rights not existing on the date of this Deed, such Chargor shall notify the Collateral Agent and, if the Collateral Agent (acting reasonably) so requires and promptly notifies the Chargor, such Chargor shall ensure that application is made for the Security created by this Deed to be recorded, and that, where practicable, any such Security is recorded, at the same time as the application or registration (as the case may be) of such Intellectual Property Rights.
- (c) Each Chargor shall use its best endeavours to procure any third party consents which may be necessary to complete or to perfect the Security intended to be created over the Intellectual Property Rights pursuant to this Deed.
- (d) Each Chargor will as soon as reasonably practicable notify the Collateral Agent in writing upon becoming aware of any circumstances which would make any of the representations in clause 7.6 (Specified Intellectual Property) inaccurate or misleading in any material respect if those representations were then to be repeated.

8.6 Partnership Deeds

- (a) Each Partner will:
 - (i) comply with and remain liable for all of its obligations under any relevant Partnership Deed; and
 - (ii) as soon as reasonably practicable (but in no event less than five Business Days thereafter) provide to the Collateral Agent, copies of all notices issued by it or received by it under any Partnership Deed and which materially affect such Partner's rights or obligations under the Partnership Deed.
- (b) No Partner will:
 - (i) agree to alter the terms of, or terminate, a Partnership Deed; or
 - (ii) waive its rights under a Partnership Deed,

without the prior written consent of the Collateral Agent except where such alteration, termination or waiver would not have a Material Adverse Effect.

8.7 Excluded Assets

The undertakings set out in this clause 8 do not apply in respect of any assets which are Excluded Assets.

9 Shares and Investments

- (a) Unless an Event of Default shall have occurred and be continuing and (other than in respect of an Event of Default under Section 7.01(g) or Section (h) of the Facility Agreement, in which case no such notice is required), the Collateral Agent shall have given at least three Business Days prior notice to the relevant Chargor of the Collateral Agent's intent to exercise its rights pursuant to Clause 9(b) (Shares and Investments), each Chargor shall be permitted to receive all cash dividends and payments paid in respect of the Shares and Investments, in each case paid in the normal course of business of the relevant Issuer and consistent with past practice, to the extent permitted in the Facility Agreement, and to exercise all voting and corporate rights with respect to the Shares and Investments; provided, however, that no vote shall be cast or corporate or other ownership right exercised or other action taken which, in the Collateral Agent's reasonable judgment, would impair the aggregate value of the Security or which would result in any violation of any provision of this Deed, the Facility Agreement or any other Loan Document.
- Upon the occurrence and during the continuance of an Event of Default: (i) all rights of (b) each Chargor to exercise or refrain from exercising the voting and other consensual rights which it would otherwise be entitled to exercise pursuant hereto shall cease and all such rights shall thereupon become vested in the Collateral Agent who shall thereupon have the sole right, but shall be under no obligation, to exercise or refrain from exercising such voting and other consensual rights and (ii) the Collateral Agent shall have the right, without notice to any Chargor (other than as required pursuant to this Deed), to transfer all or any portion of the Shares and Investments to its name or the name of its nominee or agent. In addition, the Collateral Agent shall have the right at any time, without notice to any Chargor (other than as required pursuant to this Deed), to exchange any certificates or instruments representing any Shares or Investments for certificates or instruments of smaller or larger denominations. Upon the occurrence and during the continuance of an Event of Default, in order to permit the Collateral Agent to exercise the voting and other consensual rights which it may be entitled to exercise pursuant hereto and to receive all dividends and other distributions which it may be entitled to receive

hereunder each Chargor shall promptly execute and deliver (or cause to be executed and delivered) to the Collateral Agent all proxies, dividend payment orders and other instruments as the Collateral Agent may from time to time reasonably request and each Chargor acknowledges that the Collateral Agent may utilize the power of attorney set forth herein; provided that, immediately upon waiver or cure of such Event of Default, all such rights shall, automatically and without further action by any party hereto, revert to such Chargor.

(c) Each Chargor hereby authorizes and instructs each issuer of any Shares and Investments pledged by such Chargor hereunder to (i) comply with any instruction received by it from the Collateral Agent in writing that (x) states that an Event of Default has occurred and is continuing and (y) is otherwise in accordance with the terms of this Deed or the Term Loan GCA, without any other or further instructions from such Chargor, and each Chargor agrees that each issuer shall be fully protected in so complying, and (ii) upon any such instruction upon the occurrence and during the continuance of an Event of Default, pay any dividends or other payments with respect to the Shares and Investments, directly to the Collateral Agent; provided that, immediately upon waiver or cure of such Event of Default, all such instructions of the Collateral Agent shall be rescinded, and payments with respect to the Shares and Investments shall automatically and without further action by any party hereto, become payable to such Chargor to the same extent as in effect prior to such Event of Default.

10 Partnership Interests

By entering into this Deed, each Partnership:

- (a) acknowledges to the Collateral Agent that it has notice of the assignment of all the Partner's benefits, rights, titles, claims and interests in and to the Partnership Assets;
- (b) confirms to the Collateral Agent that it has not claimed or exercised, has no outstanding right to claim or exercise and will not exercise, any right of set-off, counterclaim or other right relating to any payments to be made by it in respect of the Partnership Assets;
- (c) confirms that it has not received any notice that any third party has or will have any right or interest in or has made or will be making any claim or demand or taking any action against the Partnership Assets; and
- (d) acknowledges that neither the Collateral Agent nor any other Secured Party shall be under any obligation in relation to any Partnership Assets as a consequence of this Deed and the Partner shall at all times remain liable to perform all obligations expressed to be assumed by it in respect of the Partnership Assets.

11 Enforcement

11.1 When Security becomes enforceable

The Security created by a Chargor under this Deed shall become enforceable:

- (a) on the occurrence of an Event of Default and whilst the same is continuing; or
- (b) if a Chargor so requests.

11.2 Powers on enforcement

At any time after the Security created by a Chargor under this Deed has become enforceable, the Collateral Agent may (without prejudice to any other of its rights and remedies and without notice to any Chargor) do all or any of the following:

- (a) exercise all the powers and rights conferred on mortgagees by the Act, as varied and extended by this Deed, without the restrictions contained in sections 103 or 109(1) of the Act;
- (b) exercise the power of leasing, letting, entering into agreements for leases or lettings or accepting or agreeing to accept surrenders of leases in relation to any Security Asset, without the restrictions imposed by sections 99 and 100 of the Act;
- (c) to the extent that any Security Asset constitutes Financial Collateral, as defined in the Regulations, appropriate it and transfer the title in and to it to the Collateral Agent insofar as not already transferred, subject to paragraphs (1) and (2) of Regulation 18;
- (d) subject to Clause 12.1 (*Method of appointment and removal*), appoint one or more persons to be a Receiver or Receivers of all or any of the Security Assets; and
- (e) appoint an administrator of any Chargor.

11.3 Disposal of the Security Assets

In exercising the powers referred to in Clause 11.2 (*Powers on enforcement*), the Collateral Agent or any Receiver may sell or dispose of all or any of the Security Assets at the times, in the manner and order, on the terms and conditions and for the consideration determined by it.

11.4 Application of moneys

- (a) Subject to the Intercreditor Agreement, the Collateral Agent or any Receiver shall apply moneys received by them under this Deed after the Security created under this Deed has become enforceable as set forth in Section 6.05 of the Term Loan GCA, and section 109(8) of the Act shall not apply.
- (b) Clause 11.4(a) will override any appropriation made by a Chargor.

12 Appointment and powers of Receivers

12.1 Method of appointment and removal

- (a) The Collateral Agent may not appoint a Receiver by reason only of a moratorium being obtained, or anything being done with a view to a moratorium being obtained, under section 1A of the Insolvency Act 1986.
- (b) Every appointment or removal of a Receiver, of any delegate or of any other person by the Collateral Agent pursuant to this Deed may be made in writing under the hand of any officer or manager of the Collateral Agent (subject to any requirement for a court order in the removal of an administrative receiver).

12.2 Powers of Receiver

Every Receiver shall have all the powers:

- (a) of the Collateral Agent under this Deed;
- (b) conferred by the Act on mortgagees in possession and on receivers appointed under the Act;
- (c) in relation to, and to the extent applicable to, the Security Assets or any of them, the powers specified in Schedule 1 of the Insolvency Act 1986 (whether or not the Receiver is an administrative receiver within the meaning of that Act); and

(d) in relation to any Security Asset, which he would have if he were its only beneficial owner.

12.3 Joint or several

If two or more persons are appointed as Receivers of the same assets, they may act jointly and/or severally so that (unless any instrument appointing them specifies to the contrary) each of them may exercise individually all the powers and discretions conferred on Receivers by this Deed

12.4 Receiver as agent

Every Receiver shall be the agent of the relevant Chargor which shall be solely responsible for his acts and defaults and for the payment of his remuneration.

12.5 Receiver's remuneration

Every Receiver shall be entitled to remuneration for his services at a rate to be fixed by agreement between him and the Collateral Agent, and the maximum rate specified in section 109(6) of the Act shall not apply.

12.6 Delegation

- (a) The Collateral Agent and any Receiver may, for the time being and from time to time, delegate by power of attorney or in any other manner (including, without limitation, under the hand of any manager of the Collateral Agent) to any person any right, power or discretion exercisable by the Collateral Agent or such Receiver (as the case may be) under this Deed.
- (b) Any such delegation may be made upon the terms (including, without limitation, power to sub delegate) and subject to any regulations which the Collateral Agent or such Receiver (as the case may be) may think fit.
- (c) Neither the Collateral Agent nor any Receiver will be in any way liable or responsible to any Chargor for any loss or liability arising from any act, default, omission or misconduct on the part of any such delegate or sub delegate who shall be entitled to all the indemnities to which his appointor is entitled under this Deed.

13 Protection of purchasers

No purchaser or other person dealing with the Collateral Agent or any Receiver shall be bound or concerned:

- (a) to see or enquire whether the right of the Collateral Agent or any Receiver to exercise any of the powers conferred by this Deed has arisen or not;
- (b) with the propriety of the exercise or purported exercise of those powers; or
- (c) with the application of any moneys paid to the Collateral Agent, to any Receiver or to any other person.

14 Protection of the Secured Parties and Receivers

14.1 Exclusion of liability

None of the Collateral Agent, the other Secured Parties, any Receiver or any of their respective officers or employees shall have any responsibility or liability:

- (a) for any action taken, or any failure to take any action, in relation to all or any of the Security Assets;
- (b) to account as mortgagee in possession or for any loss upon realisation of any Security Asset;
- (c) for any loss resulting from any fluctuation in exchange rates in connection with any purchase of currencies;
- (d) for the loss or destruction of, or damage to, any of the Security Assets, or to any documents of or evidencing title to them, which are in the possession or held to the order of any such person (and which will be held by such persons at the expense and risk of the Chargors); or
- (e) for any other default or omission in relation to all or any of the Security Assets for which a mortgagee in possession might be liable.

except in the case of gross negligence or wilful misconduct (as determined by a court of competent jurisdiction in a final and non-appealable judgment) on the part of that person.

14.2 Enforcement Expenses; General indemnity

- (a) The parties hereto agree that the Collateral Agent, any Receiver and the other Secured Parties shall be entitled to reimbursement of their expenses incurred hereunder as provided in and subject to the caps set forth in Section 9.05 of the Facility Agreement.
- (b) Each Chargor agrees to pay, and to hold the Collateral Agent, any Receiver and each other Secured Party harmless from, any and all liabilities, obligations, losses, damages, penalties, actions, judgments, suits, costs, expenses or disbursements of any kind or nature whatsoever with respect to, or resulting from any delay in paying, any and all stamp, excise, sales or other taxes which may be payable or determined to be payable with respect to any of the Security Assets or in connection with any of the transactions contemplated by this Deed, except Indemnified Taxes and Other Taxes covered in Section 2.20 of the Facility Agreement.
- (c) Each Chargor agrees to pay, and to hold the Collateral Agent, any Receiver and each other Secured Party harmless from, any and all liabilities, obligations, losses, damages, penalties, actions, judgments, suits, costs, expenses or disbursements of any kind or nature whatsoever with respect to the execution, delivery, enforcement, performance and administration of this Deed to the extent the Borrower would be required to do so pursuant to Section 9.05 of the Facility Agreement.
- (d) The agreements in this clause 14.2 (*Enforcement Expenses; General Indemnity*) shall survive repayment of the Secured Liabilities and all other amounts payable under the Facility Agreement and the other Loan Documents.

14.3 Indemnity out of the Security Assets

Upon the occurrence and during the continuance of an Event of Default, each Secured Party is hereby authorized at any time and from time to time, except to the extent prohibited by law, to set off and apply any and all deposits (general or special, time or demand, provisional or final), in any currency, and any other credits, indebtedness or claims, in any currency, in each case whether direct or indirect, absolute or contingent, matured or unmatured, at any time held or owing by such Secured Party to or for the credit or the account of such Chargor, or any part thereof in such amounts as such Secured Party may elect, against and on account of the obligations and liabilities of such Chargor to such Secured Party now or hereafter existing under this Deed and the other Loan Documents and claims of every nature and description of such Secured Party against such Chargor, in any currency, whether arising hereunder, under the

Facility Agreement, any other Loan Document or otherwise, as such Secured Party may elect, whether or not any Secured Party has made any demand for payment and although such obligations, liabilities and claims may be contingent or unmatured. Each Secured Party shall notify such Chargor promptly of any such setoff and the application made by such Secured Party of the proceeds thereof, provided that the failure to give such notice shall not affect the validity of such setoff and application. The rights of each Secured Party under this clause 14.3 (Indemnity out of the Security Assets) are in addition to other rights and remedies (including other rights of setoff) which such Secured Party may have.

15 Further Assurances

15.1 Application to Land Registrar

Each Chargor consents to the registration against the registered titles specified in Schedule 2 (Land charged by way of legal mortgage) of:

(a) a restriction in the following terms:

"No disposition of the registered estate by the proprietor of the registered estate [or by the proprietor of any registered charge] is to be registered without a written consent signed by the proprietor for the time being of the debenture dated ** [date of debenture] in favour of Credit Suisse AG, Cayman Islands Branch (as agent and trustee for the Secured Parties referred to in that debenture) referred to in the charges register or, if appropriate, signed on such proprietor's behalf by an authorised signatory of Credit Suisse AG, Cayman Islands Branch (Form P)"; and

(b) a notice that the Lenders are under an obligation to make further advances on the terms and subject to the conditions of the Loan Documents.

15.2 Further action

Each Chargor shall, at its own expense, promptly take any action and sign or execute any further documents which the Collateral Agent (acting reasonably) may require in order to:

- (a) give effect to the requirements of this Deed;
- (b) protect, preserve and perfect the Security intended to be created by or pursuant to this Deed;
- (c) protect and preserve the ranking of the Security intended to be created by or pursuant to this Deed with any other Security over any assets of any Chargor; or
- (d) facilitate the realisation of all or any of the Security Assets or the exercise of any rights, powers and discretions conferred on the Collateral Agent, any Receiver or any administrator in connection with all or any of the Security Assets,

and any such document may (i) disapply section 93 of the Act and (ii) contain an assignment to the Collateral Agent of the Book Debts in any manner reasonably required by the Collateral Agent.

15.3 Law of Property (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1994

The covenant set out in section 2(1)(b) of the Law of Property (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1994 shall extend to the provisions set out in this Clause 15 (Further Assurances).

16 Power of Attorney

16.1 Appointment

Each Chargor irrevocably and by way of security appoints each of:

- (a) the Collateral Agent;
- (b) any delegate or sub-delegate of, or other person nominated in writing by, an officer of the Collateral Agent; and
- (c) any Receiver,

jointly and severally as that Chargor's attorney, in that Chargor's name, on its behalf and in such manner as the attorney may in its or his absolute discretion think fit while any Event of Default is continuing or following the failure by that Chargor to comply with a request from the Collateral Agent in accordance with the terms of this Deed, to take any action and sign or execute any further documents which that Chargor is required to take, sign or execute in accordance with this Deed.

16.2 Ratification

Each Chargor agrees, promptly on the request of the Collateral Agent or any Receiver, to ratify and confirm all such actions taken and documents signed or executed.

17 Preservation of Security

17.1 Reinstatement

If any payment by a Chargor or any discharge given by the Collateral Agent (whether in respect of the obligations of any Chargor or any Security for those obligations or otherwise) is avoided or reduced as a result of insolvency or any similar event:

- (a) the liability of each Chargor shall continue as if the payment, discharge, avoidance or reduction had not occurred; and
- (b) the Collateral Agent shall be entitled to recover the value or amount of that Security or payment from each Chargor, as if the payment, discharge, avoidance or reduction had not occurred.

17.2 Waiver of defences

The obligations of each Chargor under this Deed will not be affected by an act, omission, matter or thing which, but for this Clause 17.2 (*Waiver of defences*), would reduce, release or prejudice any of its obligations under this Deed (without limitation and whether or not known to it or the Collateral Agent or any other Secured Party) including:

- (a) any time, waiver or consent granted to, or composition with, any Chargor or other person;
- (b) the release of any other Chargor or any other person under the terms of any composition or arrangement with any creditor of any Chargor or any other person;
- (c) the taking, variation, compromise, exchange, renewal or release of, or refusal or neglect to perfect, take up or enforce, any rights against, or Security over assets of, any Chargor or any other person or any non-presentation or non-observance of any formality or other requirement in respect of any instrument or any failure to realise the full value of any Security;

- (d) any incapacity or lack of power, authority or legal personality of or dissolution or change in the members or status of any Chargor or any other person;
- (e) any amendment (however fundamental) or replacement of a Loan Document or any other document or Security;
- (f) any unenforceability, illegality or invalidity of any obligation of any person under any Loan Document or any other document or Security; or
- (g) any insolvency or similar proceedings.

17.3 Chargor intent

Without prejudice to the generality of Clause 17.2 (*Waiver of defences*), each Chargor expressly confirms that it intends that the Security created by this Deed shall extend from time to time to any (however fundamental) variation, increase, extension or addition of or to any of the Loan Documents and/or any facility or amount made available under any of the Loan Documents for the purposes of or in connection with any of the following:

- (a) acquisitions of any nature;
- (b) increasing working capital;
- (c) enabling investor distributions to be made;
- (d) carrying out restructurings;
- (e) refinancing existing facilities;
- (f) refinancing any other indebtedness;
- (g) making facilities available to new borrowers;
- (h) any other variation or extension of the purposes for which any such facility or amount might be made available from time to time; and
- (i) any fees, costs and/or expenses associated with any of the foregoing.

17.4 Immediate recourse

Each Chargor waives any right it may have of first requiring the Collateral Agent to proceed against or enforce any other rights or Security or claim payment from any person before enforcing the Security constituted by this Deed. This waiver applies irrespective of any law or any provision of a Loan Document to the contrary.

17.5 Appropriations

Until the expiry of the Security Period, the Collateral Agent may:

- (a) refrain from applying or enforcing any other monies, Security or rights held or received by the Collateral Agent in respect of the Secured Liabilities, or apply and enforce the same in such manner and order as it sees fit (whether against the Secured Liabilities or otherwise) and no Chargor shall be entitled to the benefit of the same; and
- (b) hold in an interest-bearing suspense account any monies received from any Chargor or on account of any Chargor's liability in respect of the Secured Liabilities.

17.6 Deferral of Chargors' rights

Until the expiry of the Security Period, and unless the Collateral Agent otherwise directs, no Chargor will exercise any rights which it may have by reason of performance by it of its obligations under the Loan Documents:

- (a) to be indemnified by any other Chargor;
- (b) to claim any contribution from any other guarantor of any Chargor's obligations under the Loan Documents; and/or
- (c) to take the benefit (in whole or in part and whether by way of subrogation or otherwise) of any of the Collateral Agent's rights under the Loan Documents or of any other guarantee or Security taken pursuant to, or in connection with, the Loan Documents by the Collateral Agent.

17.7 Additional Security

This Deed is in addition to, is not in any way prejudiced by and shall not merge with any contractual right or remedy or other Security now or in the future held by or available to any Secured Party.

17.8 New Accounts

If a Secured Party receives notice (actual or otherwise) of any subsequent Security (other than any Security permitted under the terms of the Facility Agreement or any other Loan Document) over or affecting all or any of the Security Assets it may open a new account or accounts with any Chargor and, if it does not do so, it shall nevertheless be treated as if it had done so at the time when it received or was deemed to have received notice of that subsequent Security, and as from that time all payments made by the relevant Chargor to that Secured Party:

- (a) shall be credited or be treated as having been credited to the new account of that Chargor; and
- (b) shall not operate to reduce the Secured Liabilities at the time when the that Secured Party received or was deemed to have received such notice.

18 Notices

Any communications to be made under or in connection with this Deed shall be made in accordance with Section 8.02 (*Notices*) of the Term Loan GCA.

19 Miscellaneous Provisions

19.1 Tacking

For the purposes of section 94(1) of the Act and section 49(3) of the Land Registration Act 2002 the Collateral Agent confirms on behalf of the Lenders that the Lenders shall make further advances to the Borrower on the terms and subject to the conditions of the Loan Documents.

19.2 Separate Charges

This Deed shall, in relation to each Chargor, be read and construed as if it were a separate Deed relating to such Chargor to the intent that if any Security created by any other Chargor in this Deed shall be invalid or liable to be set aside for any reason, this shall not affect any Security created under this Deed by such first Chargor.

19.3 Invalidity

If, at any time, any provision of this Deed is or becomes invalid, illegal or unenforceable in any respect under any law, the validity, legality and enforceability of the remaining provisions will not in any way be affected or impaired.

19.4 Rights and Remedies

The rights of the Secured Parties under this Deed are cumulative, may be exercised as often as considered appropriate and are in addition to the general law. Such rights (whether arising hereunder or under the general law) shall not be capable of being waived or varied otherwise than by an express waiver or variation in writing and, in particular, any failure to exercise or delay in exercising any of such rights shall not operate as a waiver or variation of that or any other such right, any defective or partial exercise of any such rights shall not preclude any other or further exercise of that or any other such right, and no act or course of conduct or negotiation by any Secured Party or on its behalf shall in any way preclude it from exercising any such right or constitute a suspension or any variation of any such right.

19.5 Accession of Affiliates

- (a) To the extent that any Affiliate of the Company is required by the terms of the Loan Documents to provide Security over its assets under English law, it may do so by executing a Deed of Accession and such Affiliate shall on the date which such Deed of Accession is executed by it become a party to this Deed in the capacity of a Chargor and this Deed shall be read and construed for all purposes as if such company had been an original party to this Deed as a Chargor (but for the avoidance of doubt the Security created by such company shall be created on the date of the Deed of Accession).
- (b) Each Chargor (other than the Company) by its execution of this Deed or any Deed of Accession, irrevocably appoints the Company to execute on its behalf any Deed of Accession without further reference to or the consent of such Chargor and such Chargor shall be bound by any such Deed of Accession as if it had itself executed such Deed of Accession.

19.6 Conflict

If there is an inconsistency between any of the provisions of this agreement and the provisions of the Facility Agreement, the provisions of the Facility Agreement shall prevail.

20 Release

- (a) Upon the expiry of the Security Period (but not otherwise), the Collateral Agent shall, at the request and cost of the Chargors, take whatever action is necessary to release the Security Assets (in whole or in part, as applicable) from the Security constituted by this Deed and/or reassign the benefit of the Security Assets to the Chargors, and the Collateral Agent shall execute and deliver to any Chargor, at such Chargor's expense, all documents that such Chargor shall reasonably request to evidence such termination or release. Any execution and delivery of documents by the Collateral Agent pursuant to this clause 20 (*Release*) shall be without recourse to or warranty to the Collateral Agent.
- (b) Section 93 of the Act shall not apply to this Deed.

21 Governing Law and Jurisdiction

21.1 Governing Law

English law governs this Deed, its interpretation and any non-contractual obligations arising from or connected with it.

21.2 Jurisdiction

- (a) The courts of England have exclusive jurisdiction to settle any dispute arising out of or in connection with this Deed (including a dispute regarding the existence, validity or termination of this Deed) (a **Dispute**).
- (b) The parties agree that the courts of England are the most appropriate and convenient courts to settle Disputes and accordingly no party will argue to the contrary.
- (c) This Clause 21.2 (*Jurisdiction*) is for the benefit of the Secured Parties only. As a result, no Secured Party shall be prevented from taking proceedings relating to a Dispute in any other courts with jurisdiction. To the extent allowed by law, a Secured Party may take concurrent proceedings in any number of jurisdictions.

This Deed has been entered into as a deed on the date stated at the beginning of this Deed.

Schedule 1 The Chargors

Name of Chargor	Jurisdiction of incorporation	Registration number
Apleona GVA Asset Management Limited	England and Wales	04015826
GVA Acuity Limited	England and Wales	03691291
GVA Financial Consulting Limited	England and Wales	07359662
GVA Grimley Holdings Limited	England and Wales	06434650
GVA Grimley Limited	England and Wales	06382509
How Commercial Planning Limited	England and Wales	04300625
How Planning LLP	England and Wales	OC318465
Second London Wall Project Management Limited	England and Wales	02774669
Haywards 2008 Limited	England and Wales	02790028
Avison Young – UK, LLP	England and Wales	OC334944
Ashwell Lane Limited	England and Wales	06579646

Schedule 2 Land charged by way of legal mortgage

None as at the date of this Deed.

Schedule 3 Shares

Chargor	Company Name	Type of Share	Number of Shares
GVA Grimley Holdings Limited	GVA Grimley Limited	Ordinary	854,516
GVA Grimley Limited	Apleona GVA Asset Management Limited	Ordinary	1
GVA Grimley Limited	GVA Worldwide Limited	Ordinary	100
GVA Grimley Limited	GVA Acuity Limited	Ordinary	251,000
GVA Grimley Limited	GVA Financial Consulting Limited	Ordinary	100
GVA Grimley Limited	GVA Polskasp Zoo (incorporated in Poland)	Ordinary	170
GVA Grimley Limited	Second London Wall Project Management Limited	Ordinary	90
GVA Grimley Limited	GVA Planning & Regeneration Limited (incorporated in the Republic of Ireland)	Ordinary	100
GVA Grimley Limited	How Commercial Planning Limited	Ordinary	4
Avison Young - UK, LLP	Ashwell Lane Limited	Ordinary	1
Avison Young (UK) Limited	Haywards 2008 Limited	Ordinary	10,000
Apleona GVA Asset Management Limited	The Stoke on Trent & Staffordshire Safer Communities Community Interest Company	Ordinary	25
Avison Young (UK) Limited	GVA Grimley Holdings Limited	Ordinary	1,670,289

Schedule 4 Specified Intellectual Property

Trademarks

Country	Trademark	Status	Application No.	Registration No.	Proprietor
United Kingdom	A ASPIRE logo	Registered	UK00002343255	UK00002343255	GVA Grimley Limited
	O sur				
European Union	Curved logo	Registered	001248244	001248244	GVA Grimley Limited
United Kingdom	GRIMLEY	Registered	UK00002005244	UK00002005244	GVA Grimley Limited

BD-#32435846-v10

28

Country	Trademark	Status	Application No.	Registration No.	Proprietor
European Union	GRIMLEY logo	Registered	000322883	000322883	GVA Grimley Limited
	Grimley				
European Union	GVA	Registered	001248301	001248301	GVA Grimley Limited
European Union	GVA An APLEONA company logo	Registered	016243412	016243412	GVA Grimley Limited
	GVA An APLEONA company				
Australia	GVA in a circle (Black)	Registered	1671506	1671506	GVA Grimley Limited
(designation under an International Registration no. 1099410)	8				

Country	Trademark	Status	Application No.	Registration No.	Proprietor
China	GVA in a circle (Black)	Registered	1099410	1099410	GVA Grimley Limited
(designation under an International Registration)					
European Union	GVA in a circle (Black)	Registered	1099410	1099410	GVA Grimley Limited
(designation under an International Registration)	8				
International	GVA in a circle (Black)	Registered	1099410	1099410	GVA Grimley Limited
	(3)				

Country	Trademark	Status	Application No.	Registration No.	Proprietor
Russian Federation	GVA in a circle (Black)	Registered	1099410	1099410	GVA Grimley Limited
(designation under an International Registration)	8				
Switzerland	GVA in a circle (Black)	Registered	1099410	1099410	GVA Grimley Limited
(designation under an International Registration)	(3)				
United Kingdom	GVA in a circle (series of 2)	Registered	UK00002563329	UK00002563329	GVA Grimley Limited
	8 (%)				

Country	Trademark	Status	Application No.	Registration No.	Proprietor
Australia	GVA in a circle (yellow + blue)	Registered	1672853	1672853	GVA Grimley Limited
(designation under an International Registration no. 1098852)	3				
China	GVA in a circle (yellow + blue)	Registered	1098852	1098852	GVA Grimley Limited
(designation under an International Registration)	3				
European Union	GVA in a circle (yellow + blue)	Registered	1098852	1098852	GVA Grimley Limited
(designation under an International Registration)					

Application No. Registration No. Proprietor	2 1098852		2 1098852 GVA Grimley Limited		2 1098852 GVA Grimley Limited	
	Registered 1098852		Registered 1098852		Registered 1098852	
Trademark Status	GVA in a circle (yellow + blue) Reg	3	GVA in a circle (yellow + blue)	3	GVA in a circle (yellow + blue) Reg	3
Country	International		Russian Federation	(designation under an International Registration)	Switzerland	(designation under an International Registration)

BD-#32435846-v10

Proprietor	GVA Grimley Limited	GVA Grimley Limited	GVA Grimley Limited
Registration No.	1019048	1019048	813126
Application No.	1019048	1019048	813126
Status	Registered	Registered	Registered
Trademark	GVA in a semi-circle logo (yellow)	GVA in a semi-circle logo (yellow)	GVA in a semi-circle logo (yellow)
Country	China (designation under an International Registration)	International (China, Australia, Turkey, Switzerland, Ukraine)	New Zealand

Country	Trademark	Status	Application No.	Registration No.	Proprietor
Switzerland	GVA in a semi-circle logo (yellow)	Registered	1019048	1019048	GVA Grimley Limited
(designation under an International Registration)	3				
Turkey	GVA in a semi-circle logo (yellow)	Registered	1019048	1019048	GVA Grimley Limited
(designation under an International Registration)	5				
Ukraine	GVA in a semi-circle logo (yellow)	Registered	1019048	1019048	GVA Grimley Limited
(designation under an International Registration)	3				

35

Proprietor	GVA Grimley Limited	GVA Grimley Limited	GVA Grimley Limited
Registration No.	UK00002526754	1334437	759542
Application No.	UK00002526754	1334437	759542
Status	Registered	Registered	Registered
Trademark	GVA in a semi-circle logo (yellow)	GVA in a semi-circle logo (blue + orange)	GVA in a crescent logo (black + white)
Country	United Kingdom	Australia (designation under an International Registration no. 1019048)	Czech Republic (designation under an International Registration)

36

Country	Trademark	Status	Application No.	Registration No.	Proprietor
Hungary	GVA in a crescent logo (black + white)	Registered	759542	759542	GVA Grimley Limited
(designation under an International Registration)					
International	GVA in a crescent logo (black + white)	Registered	759542	759542	GVA Grimley Limited
Poland (designation under an International Registration)	GVA in a crescent logo (black + white)	Registered	759542	759542	GVA Grimley Limited

Country	Trademark	Status	Application No.	Registration No.	Proprietor
Romania	GVA in a crescent logo (black + white)	Registered	759542	759542	GVA Grimley Limited
(designation under an International Registration)					
Russian Federation	GVA in a crescent logo (black + white)	Registered	759542	759542	GVA Grimley Limited
(designation under an International Registration)	GVA				
Slovak Republic	GVA in a crescent logo (black + white)	Registered	759542	759542	GVA Grimley Limited
(designation under an International Registration)	NS)				

Country	Trademark	Status	Application No.	Registration No.	Proprietor
China	GVA Outlets logo (Black/grey)	Registered	1036405	1036405	GVA Grimley Limited
(designation under an International Registration)	GVA Outlets				
European Union	GVA Outlets logo (Black/grey)	Registered	1036405	1036405	GVA Grimley Limited
(designation under an International Registration)	GWA Ourlets				
International (European Union, Russia, Turkey, Ukraine)	GVA Outlets logo (Black/grey) GVA Outlets	Registered	1036405	1036405	GVA Grimley Limited

GVA Outlets logo (series of 2)
GVA Outlets GVA Outlets logo (yellow/blue)

Country	Trademark	Status	Application No.	Registration No.	Proprietor
International (European Union, Singapore, Bulgaria)	GVA Outlets logo (yellow/blue) GVA Outlets	Registered	1038495	1038495	GVA Grimley Limited
European Union	GVA WORLDWIDE	Registered	016512295	016512295	GVA Grimley Limited
Hong Kong	GVA WORLDWIDE LIMITED logo	Registered	1997B09167	1997B09167	GVA Grimley Limited
	GVA WORLDWIDE LIMITED				
Hong Kong	GVA WORLDWIDE LIMITED logo	Registered	1997B10063	1997B10063	GVA Grimley Limited
	GVA WORLDWIDE LIMITED				
Hong Kong	GVA WORLDWIDE LIMITED logo GVA WORLDWIDE LIMITED	Registered	1997B09168	1997B09168	GVA Grimley Limited

BD-#32435846-v10

4

Country	Trademark	Status	Application No.	Registration No.	Proprietor
Hong Kong	GVA WORLDWIDE LIMITED logo	Registered	1999B04464	1999B04464	GVA Grimley Limited
	GVA WORLDWIDE LIMITED				
Singapore	GVA WORLDWIDE LIMITED logo	Registered	T9803432I	T9803432I	GVA Grimley Limited
	GVA WORLDWIDE LIMITED				
USA	GVA WORLDWIDE logo	Registered	86088138	5241750	GVA Grimley Limited
	SYA WEST				
United Kingdom	OUR PLACES BUILD PEOPLE	Registered	UK00003278090	UK00003278090	GVA Grimley Limited
European Union	VIGERS	Registered	003185105	003185105	GVA Grimley Limited

Schedule 5 Deed of Accession

THIS DEED OF ACCESSION is dated [•] and made

BETWEEN

- (1) Limited [registered in England with number [•] whose registered office is at [•]][a corporation organised and existing under the laws of [•] whose principal place of business is at [•]][of [•]] (the **New Chargor**);
- (2) **Avison Young (UK) Limited** a company incorporated under the laws of England and Wales with registered number 08963626 for itself and as agent for and on behalf of each of the other Chargors presently party to the Debenture (as defined below) (**Company**); and
- (3) **Credit Suisse AG, Cayman Islands Branch**, as collateral agent and security trustee for the Secured Parties (the **Collateral Agent**).

RECITALS

- (A) The Company and others as Chargors entered into a debenture dated (as supplemented and amended from time to time, the Debenture) in favour of the Collateral Agent.
- (B) The New Chargor has at the request of the Company and in consideration of the Secured Parties continuing to make facilities available to the Borrower and after giving due consideration to the terms and conditions of the Loan Documents and the Debenture and satisfying itself that there are reasonable grounds for believing that the entry into this Deed by it will be of benefit to it, decided in good faith and for the purpose of carrying on its business to enter into this Deed and thereby become a Chargor under the Debenture.
- (C) The Chargors and the Collateral Agent intend that this document take effect as a deed notwithstanding that it may be executed under hand.

IT IS AGREED:

- 1 Terms defined in the Debenture have the same meaning when used in this Deed.
- The New Chargor agrees to become a party to and bound by the terms of the Debenture as a Chargor with immediate effect and so that the Debenture shall be read and construed for all purposes as if the New Chargor had been an original party to the Debenture in the capacity of Chargor (but so that the Security created consequent on such accession shall be created on the date of this Deed).
- The New Chargor undertakes to be bound by all of the covenants and agreements in the Debenture which are expressed to be binding on a Chargor.
- The New Chargor grants to the Collateral Agent the assignments, charges, mortgages and other Security described in the Debenture as being granted, created or made by Chargors under the Debenture to the intent that its assignments, charges, mortgages and other Security shall be effective and binding upon it and its property and assets and shall not in any way be avoided, discharged or released or otherwise adversely affected by any ineffectiveness or invalidity of the Debenture or of any other party's execution of the Debenture or any other Deed of Accession, or by any avoidance, invalidity, discharge or release of any guarantee, assignment or charge contained in the Debenture or in any other Deed of Accession.

- The Debenture and this Deed shall be read and construed as one to the extent and so that references in the Debenture to:
 - (a) this Deed and similar phrases shall be deemed to include this Deed;
 - (b) Schedule 2 shall be deemed to include a reference to Part I of the Schedule to this Deed;
 - (c) Schedule 3 shall be deemed to include a reference to Part II of the Schedule to this Deed;
 - (d) Schedule 4 shall be deemed to include a reference to Part III of the Schedule to this Deed;
- The Company, for itself and as agent for and on behalf of the other Chargors under the Debenture, agrees and consents to all of the matters provided for in this Deed.
- Without limiting the generality of the other provisions of this Deed and the Debenture, pursuant to the terms of this Deed and the Debenture, the New Chargor as Security for the payment and performance of the Secured Liabilities, and in the manner specified in clause 4 (*Nature of Security Created*) of the Debenture:
 - (a) charges to the Collateral Agent by way of legal mortgage all of the property (if any) now belonging to it brief descriptions of which are specified in Schedule 2 (*Land charged by way of legal mortgage*) to the Debenture and/or Part I of the Schedule to this Deed;
 - (b) mortgages or (if to the extent that this Deed does not take effect as a mortgage) charges by way of fixed charge to the Collateral Agent all of the Shares (if any) brief descriptions of which are specified in Part II of the Schedule to this Deed (which shall from today's date form part of the Shares for the purposes of the Debenture) and all related Distribution Rights; and
 - (c) charges to the Collateral Agent by way of fixed charge its Intellectual Property Rights (if any) specified in Part III of the Schedule to this Deed (which shall from today's date form part of the Specified Intellectual Property of the Chargors for the purposes of the Debenture).
- 8 English law governs this Deed, its interpretation and any non-contractual obligations arising from or connected with it.

This Deed has been entered into as a deed on the date stated at the beginning of this Deed.

SCHEDULE

Part I - Land

[Insert details of any real property owned by the New Chargor]

Part II - Shares

[Insert details of all Shares of the New Chargor]

Part III - Specified Intellectual Property

[Insert details of a	ny registered Intellectual	Property owned by	the New Chargor]

SIGNATORIES

[to the Deed of Accession]

The New Chargor	
Executed as a deed by • LIMITED acting by a Director in the presence of:)))
Signature of witness:	
Name of witness:	
Address:	
The Company for itself and as agent for the other Chargors party to the Debenture	
Executed as a deed by LIMITED acting by a Director in the presence of:)))
Signature of witness:	
Name of witness:	
Address:	
The Collateral Agent	
WELLS FARGO BANK, NATIONAL ASSOCIATION	ON (LONDON BRANCH)
By:	

Signatories

ine Company	
Executed as a deed by AVISON YOUNG (UK) LIMITED acting by a Director in the presence of:	
Signature of witness:	
Name of witness:	Elissa R Port
Address:	one union sq South pso
	one union sq Southpso Newyork, Ny 1003
The other Chargors	
Executed as a deed by APLEONA GVA ASSET MANAGEMENT LIMITED acting by a Director in the presence of:)
Signature of witness:	
Name of witness:	***************************************
	\$\$\d\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\
Address:	pasa antono a a la cara e se a cal modifica feste escencia cara da a 190 este a a cara.
B.	***************************************
Executed as a deed by GVA ACUITY LIMITED acting by a Director in the presence of:	
Signature of witness:	********************************
Name of witness:	
Address:	
,	

Signatories

The Company	
Executed as a deed by AVISON YOUNG (UK) LIMITED acting by a Director in the presence of:	
Signature of witness:	
Name of witness:	ત્યાની પહોંચાલ જ લેવના વસ્તું પ્રત્યાની અને કેલીકર્યો અન્ય અને સેંગા વસ્તું પણ કરેલાન વર્ષોતા
	The vertical experience of the contract of the
Address:	***************************************
	namentally announced the extendency of afficiency antilizes were delate
The other Chargors	
Executed as a deed by APLEONA GVA ASSET MANAGEMENT LIMITED acting by a Director in the presence of.).)
Signature of witness:	
Name of witness:	SHAKNA SOOR
Address:	6 CALLOW FIELD
	PURLEY CAS-400
Executed as a deed by GVA ACUITY LIMITED acting by a Director in the presence of:	
Signature of witness:	
Name of witness:	JHAKNA LOTE
Address:	6 CALLOW FIELD
	PURLEY CAR - 4DL

Executed as a deed by **GVA FINANCIAL CONSULTING LIMITED** acting by a Director in the presence of: Signature of witness: Name of witness: 2 Snowm Address: Brunghan 184 6WR Executed as a deed by **GVA GRIMLEY HOLDINGS LIMITED** acting by a Director in the presence of: Signature of witness: Lothe Brewsher Name of witness: Address: 2 Snatilly Birminghan B4 6WR Executed as a deed by **GVA GRIMLEY LIMITED** acting by a Director in the presence of: Signature of witness: DISSA R-POA Name of witness: Address: one Unin Sy Southyse

Newyork, NY 10003

Executed as a deed by HOW COMMERCIAL PLANNING LIMITED acting by a Director in the presence of:	
Signature of witness:	
Name of witness:	SHARM STR
Address:	- 40
	C CALLOW FIELD PURLEY -CR8 - 4-DU
Executed as a deed by HOW PLANNING LLP acting by a designated member in the presence of:	
Signature of witness:	
	્રીકે કે જે કરી કે ફેલ્કુ પ્રધાને પૂત્ર કરે કરો હોય છે. કરા કે પ્રકાર કરા કે કરો કરો કે કરો, કરા મારક કે ફેલ્કુ પ્ર
Name of witness:	્રકાર્ય લીક કાર્ય વહારામાં માત્ર કે લાકારમાં મહારાખે કે કુંગમાં માત્રિક રહે કર્યો મહે તે તે કર્યો કહે મહિલા કે મેફ
Address:	
	নামৰ্থনিক দেখাত চাৰত স্থান কৰে তাত কৰি প্ৰতিষ্ঠিত বিষ্টাৰ্থনিক উপ্তেশিক কৰি প্ৰতিষ্ঠানিক কৰি সংগ্ৰহণ কৰি কৰি কৰি
	grup grading a termina district the state of
Executed as a deed by SECOND LONDON WALL PROJECT MANAGEMENT LIMITED acting by a Director in the presence of:	
Signature of witness:	
Name of witness:	SHARNA SOOR
Address:	6 CALLOW FELD
	PURLEY GRE - 400

Executed as a deed by HOW COMMERCIAL PLANNING LIMITED acting by a Director in the presence of:	
Signature of witness:	
Name of witness:	
Address:	endakters yezh militid di dibit began han ab i ag a mannet bennetak bitan ad a
Executed as a deed by HOW PLANNING LLP acting by a designated member in the presence of:) · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·
Signature of witness:	Y48878 449 488 4
Name of witness:	EUSSA RPOAT
Address:	One union Sysonth, 150
	Dew York, NY 10003
Executed as a deed by SECOND LONDON WALL PROJECT MANAGEMENT LIMITED acting by a Director in the presence of:	
Signature of witness:	และ เรียงเหตุ เราะ เราะ เราะ เกาะ เกาะ เกาะ เกาะ เกาะ เกาะ เกาะ เก
Name of witness:	************************
Address:	
	estably besidency result bedeve and any angle for the five recept

Executed as a deed by HAYWARDS 2008 LIMITED acting by a Director in the presence of:))
Signature of witness:	
Name of witness:	Elissa R PoA
Address:	One Union Sq South, 15C
	New York, NY 10003
The same of the same of the same that are the sa	3
Executed as a deed by AVISON YOUNG – UK, LLP acting by a designated member in the presence of:	
Signature of witness:	
Name of witness:	ELISSA P. POA
Address:	One Union Sy south, Coc
'&	New York, NY 10003
Executed as a deed by ASHWELL LANE LIMITED acting by a Director in the presence of:	
Signature of witness:	plane a control
Name of witness:	ELISSA PL PORt
Address	one union Cy South, 15c
#.	~

New YMC, NY 10003.

The Collateral Agent

CREDIT SUISSE AG, CAYMAN ISLANDS BRANCH

Ву:

Name: William O'Daly

Title:

Authorized Signatory

Authorized Signatory